### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

COAST COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

,

Case No. S262663

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES,

Defendant and Respondent,

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE,

Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

Third Appellate District, Case No. C080349 Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 34-2014-80001842CUWMGDS The Honorable Christopher E. Krueger, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

On August 12, 2020, the Court granted review of three issues. Both the Department of Finance ("Department") and the Commission on State Mandates ("Commission") sought review of the first issue; only the Commission sought review of the second and third:

- 1. Whether regulations that establish minimum conditions entitling California community college districts to receive state aid constitute a reimbursable state mandate within the meaning of Article XIII B, section 6 of the California Constitution.
- 2. Whether a court lacks jurisdiction under Article XIII B, section 6 of the California Constitution to make subvention findings on statutes that were not specifically identified in an initial test claim.
- 3. Whether a court lacks jurisdiction to remand a test claim based on a statute that was the subject of a prior final decision by the Commission on State Mandates.

### INTRODUCTION

Article XIII B, section 6, of California's Constitution requires the State to reimburse local governments and school districts, including the districts that operate and manage California's community colleges, for costs they incur in complying with "mandates" imposed by state law. Here, several community college districts sought reimbursement for the costs of complying with dozens of alleged mandates under 170 distinct statutes, regulations, and executive orders. The Commission granted relief in significant part, accepting over 90 of the districts'

mandate claims—including numerous claims based on state regulations imposing mandatory standards for the formation and operation of community colleges (which this brief refers to as "operating standards"). These operating standards require community college districts to, among other things, adopt certain grading practices, establish various degree requirements, offer specified student services, and abide by certain faculty-hiring rules.

However, the Commission rejected reimbursement for any costs associated with satisfying a separate body of state regulations: the regulations specifying conditions entitling the districts to receive state aid (which this brief refers to as "funding-entitlement conditions"). The purpose of the funding-entitlement conditions, which cover many of the same subject areas as the operating standards (including grading practices, degree requirements, and student services) is to identify the grounds for which the State may, in its discretion, withhold state funding from the community college districts.

The Commission properly distinguished between the operating standards and funding-entitlement conditions for purposes of reimbursement under Article XIII B, section 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To date, the parties have referred to these conditions as "minimum conditions," but that terminology risks confusion with the entirely separate operating-standards regulations (which the parties have sometimes referred to as "minimum standards"). To avoid any confusion, this brief uses the terms "funding-entitlement conditions" (rather than "minimum conditions") and "operating standards" (rather than "minimum standards") to reference these separate bodies of regulations.

Unlike the operating standards, the funding-entitlement conditions do not legally compel the districts to take any action and, accordingly, do not qualify as state-imposed "mandates." Rather, districts may choose whether or not to satisfy the conditions: a district need only make that choice if it wishes to become entitled to state funding and avoid any risk that the State might withhold some portion of its funding.

Appellant districts argue, however, that even if they have no *legal* obligation to satisfy the funding-entitlement conditions, they are compelled to do so as a *practical* matter. The average community college district, they emphasize, is heavily dependent upon state aid and thus cannot afford to run the risk that the State will withhold financial assistance.

This Court has not yet decided whether such "practical compulsion" can give rise to a reimbursement obligation under Article XIII B, section 6. Should it reach the question here, the Court should hold that such claims do not provide a valid basis for reimbursement: among other legal and practical problems, all detailed *post*, pp. 51-53, such claims put the Commission and courts in the difficult position of evaluating competing empirical arguments about how much funding certain local governments can reasonably stand to lose and whether and to what extent their fiscal circumstances may change over time.

However, even assuming that practical compulsion might give rise to a reimbursable state mandate, the districts have not shown that they are likely to face such a severe loss of state funding that compliance with the funding-entitlement conditions overseeing community colleges (the Office of the Chancellor of California Community Colleges) has discretion to withhold aid for noncompliance with the funding-entitlement conditions, nothing requires it to exercise that discretion. To the contrary, state law constrains that aid-withholding authority, and the Chancellor takes a cautious approach to the possibility of withholding aid out of a concern that doing so would unfairly harm students. Indeed, the record here reveals only a single example where the Chancellor ever sought to withhold aid for noncompliance with the funding-entitlement conditions—and even then, the amount of aid in question was modest, and the Chancellor ultimately agreed to a settlement under which the district did not actually lose any funding.

Finally, as to the second and third issues presented, the Department will only speak to them briefly because they are of particular interest to, and within the expertise of, the Commission. Pleading requirements for claims under Article XIII B, section 6, and the rule barring duplicative consideration of such claims are *mandatory* procedural rules, but not *jurisdictional*. These rules serve the important purposes of facilitating the Commission's research and review of reimbursement claims, as well as preventing piecemeal litigation and the conflicting resolution of claims. But nothing in the relevant implementing statutes provides the necessary clear indication that the Legislature intended to make them jurisdictional. The upshot is that, while courts must apply these

rules if properly invoked by a party on a timely basis, a court has no sua sponte duty to raise and apply them. The Department defers to the Commission on whether the court of appeal disregarded or misapplied these rules here.

#### LEGAL BACKGROUND

A. The Constitution Allows Local Governments, Including Community College Districts, to Seek Reimbursement for State-Mandated Costs

By force of the California Constitution's "ban on unfunded mandates" (County of San Diego v. Com. on State Mandates (2018) 6 Cal.5th 196, 210), the State has "conditional authority to enlist a local government in carrying out a new program or providing a higher level of service" (id., p. 201, italics added). "Only when the state 'reimburse[s] that local government for the costs of the program or increased level of service' may the state impose such a mandate on its local governments." (Ibid., quoting Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 6.) Local governments covered by the provision include any "city," "county," "school district," "or other political subdivision." (Id., § 8, subd. (d).) "School districts" include community college districts. (Gov. Code, § 17519.)<sup>2</sup>

Voters adopted the restriction on state mandates as part of the "so-called 'tax revolt" of 1978-1979, which saw passage of Proposition 13 and, the following year, Proposition 4. (*Grossmont* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless otherwise noted, all citations are to current law. However, because the claims in this case were initially filed in 2003, the brief also provides citations to then-existing provisions where they materially depart from current law.

Union High School Dist. v. State Dept. of Education (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 869, 876.) Proposition 13 added Article XIII A to the Constitution as a limit on "the power of state and local governments to adopt and levy taxes." (County of San Diego v. California (1997) 15 Cal.4th 68, 80-81.) Proposition 4, also known as the "Spirit of '13," placed "a complementary limit" under Article XIII B "on the rate of growth in governmental spending." (San Francisco Taxpayers Assn. v. Bd. of Supervisors (1992) 2 Cal.4th 571, 574.) These provisions "work in tandem, together restricting California governments' power both to levy and to spend for public purposes." (County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 81.) Fearing that these restrictions would leave local governments "ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities," voters added the prohibition on unfunded mandates to Article XIII B "to preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies." (*Ibid.*)

To implement Article XIII B, section 6, the Legislature created the Commission on State Mandates, an expert, quasijudicial body assigned to hear and decide claims that a local agency or district is entitled to be reimbursed for state mandated costs. (Cal. School Boards Assn. v. California (2019) 8 Cal.5th 713, 720; see Gov. Code, §§ 17525 et seq.) The "first claim filed with the commission alleging that a particular statute or executive order imposes costs mandated by the state" is called a

"test claim." (*Id.*, § 17521.) <sup>3</sup> No further claims involving the same statute or executive order are allowed. (See *id.*, §§ 17550 et seq.) Thus, by "express" design, the Legislature barred duplicative test claims, providing that only one claim may be filed for any single statute or executive order. (*Kinlaw v. California* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 326, 333; see also Gov. Code, § 17552.)<sup>4</sup>

This bar on duplicative test claims does not, however, prevent any local governments from obtaining relief. A "test claim is like a class action—the Commission's decision applies to all [similarly situated] districts in the state." (San Diego Unified School Dist. v. Com. on State Mandates (2004) 33 Cal.4th 859, 872, fn. 10.) Moreover, multiple districts may participate in a test claim proceeding—by jointly filing claims, by "join[ing]" a claim previously filed by another district (County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 82), or by submitting briefing and evidence before the Commission as an "interested" party (Gov. Code, § 17553, subd. (a)(1)).

The Commission's adjudication of a test claim has several steps. It first considers whether the State has imposed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The implementing legislation for Article XIII B, section 6, defines "executive order" to include regulations. (Gov. Code, § 17516.) Thus, unless otherwise noted, all references in this brief to "executive orders" include regulations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By regulation, the Commission has clarified that it will allow a claim to move forward, even if it involves the "same statutes [or executive orders]" as a previously filed test claim, provided that the claimant demonstrates it is "affected differently" by the relevant statutes or executive orders. (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 2, § 1183.1, subd. (b).)

"mandate[]." (Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 6; see Dept. of Finance v. Com. on State Mandates (2003) 30 Cal.4th 727, 736 ("Kern School District" or "Kern").) If a "mandate" exists, the Commission then determines whether the State has mandated "a new program or higher level of service" (Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 6)—that is, whether it has compelled a local agency or district to "carry out the governmental function of providing services to the public" or "impos[ed] unique requirements on local governments [that] do not apply generally to all residents and entities in the state." (County of Los Angeles v. California (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56.) In assessing whether the mandated program or level of service is "new" or "higher," the Commission "compare[s]" the statute or executive order alleged to contain a reimbursable mandate "with the legal requirements in effect immediately before the enactment" or promulgation of that statute or executive order. (Administrative Record (AR) 22, citing San Diego Unified School *Dist.*, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 878.)

The Commission must also consider whether any exception applies, relieving the State of its reimbursement obligations. For example, the State need not reimburse local governments for the costs of complying with mandates that federal law requires the State to impose. (Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (c).) Nor is reimbursement required if the mandated activity is necessary to implement "a ballot measure approved by the voters" (*id.*, subd. (f)), or if local agencies or districts have "authority to levy service charges, fees, or assessments sufficient to pay for the mandated program" (*id.*, subd. (d)).

Finally, if a new, qualifying mandate exists, the Commission evaluates whether the State has already provided sufficient funds to cover the costs of compliance. (See *Kern*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 747.) If not, the Commission determines the amount of reimbursable costs and adopts "parameters and guidelines" for reimbursement. (Gov. Code, § 17557, subd. (a).) The Legislature may then either appropriate funds to reimburse the affected local agencies or instead choose not to fund the mandate, thereby suspending operation of the mandate for that fiscal year. (*Id.*, § 17581.) If the Legislature does not suspend the mandate, the State Controller is responsible for disbursing the necessary funds to local districts or agencies. (*Id.*, § 17561, subds. (c)-(d).)

### B. The Districts That Manage and Operate Community Colleges Receive Most of Their Funding from State Appropriations and Local Property Taxes

California's 116 community colleges together represent the largest system of higher education in the United States, offering two-year degree programs, as well as other forms of instruction, to over 2.1 million students.<sup>5</sup> In much the same way that local school districts manage K-12 schools, local community college districts operate and govern community colleges. (Ed. Code,

20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See California Community Colleges, *Key Facts*, <a href="https://www.ccco.edu/About-Us/Key-Facts">https://www.ccco.edu/About-Us/Key-Facts</a>.

§ 70902, subd. (a)(1).) Many of today's 73 districts manage just a single college; others operate several.<sup>6</sup>

Community college districts receive funding from a variety of sources for operation of the colleges they oversee—including local property taxes, state appropriations, student enrollment fees (as well as other types of fees like health services and parking fees), dedicated lottery revenues, and federal grants. The relative composition of these funding sources has shifted substantially over time. In the early twentieth century, when the Legislature first authorized establishment of community colleges (then called "junior colleges"), federal funding provided the primary source of revenue. But as colleges' financing needs grew, these funds proved inadequate, and community college districts came to rely increasingly on state aid and local revenue sources, especially property taxes. In recent years (fiscal years 2015-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See *Community College Districts* <a href="https://www.ccco.edu/">https://www.ccco.edu/</a> Students/Find-a-College/Community-College-Districts</a>. New community college districts are created through a state law-prescribed process that begins with a voter-signed petition (or petition by local education officials) and involves thorough review at the state and county levels. (See Ed. Code, §§ 74150 et seq.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Legislative Analyst's Office, 2019-2020 Budget: Higher Education Analysis p. 4, fig. 1 <a href="https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/3946/higher-ed-analysis-022119.pdf">https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/3946/higher-ed-analysis-022119.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Winter, *History of the Junior College Movement in California* (1964) pp. 1, 8 <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED346902.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED346902.pdf</a>>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See *id.*, pp. 8-9, 11-13, 27; Public Policy Institute of California, *Financing California's Community Colleges* (2004) pp. 12-13 & fig. 2.4 <a href="https://www.ppic.org/publication/financing-continued...">https://www.ppic.org/publication/financing-continued...</a>)

2018), districts have received, on average, about 42.5% of their revenue from state appropriations, 53.5% from local sources (including property taxes and student fees), 2% from federal sources, and 2% from lottery revenues.<sup>10</sup>

The State provides two principal types of funding to community college districts: general apportionment funding and categorical funding. As relevant here, a district may use general apportionment funding for any purpose in "support of [its] school or schools." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 58140; see AR 155.) Categorical funds, by contrast, are program-by-program allotments under specific statutes that control how the funding may be used. (See AR 3429-3430.) Most districts receive significantly more general apportionment funding than categorical funding. (See id., p. 3431)

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

californias-community-colleges>; Dept. of Education, *Master Plan for Higher Education in California* (1960) p. 168
<a href="https://www.lib.berkeley.edu/uchistory/archives\_exhibits/master">https://www.lib.berkeley.edu/uchistory/archives\_exhibits/master</a>
plan/MasterPlan1960.pdf>; see also Legislative Analyst's Office, *A Look at Voter-Approval Requirements for Local Taxes* (2014)
<a href="https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2014/finance/local-taxes/voter-approval-032014.aspx">https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2014/finance/local-taxes/voter-approval-032014.aspx</a> [discussing community college districts' authority to levy certain taxes, including property taxes to fund bond measures used to generate revenue for infrastructure projects].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Legislative Analyst's Office, Community College Funding by Source (2017) <a href="https://lao.ca.gov/Education/">https://lao.ca.gov/Education/</a> EdBudget/ Details/50>; Legislative Analyst's Office, 2019-2020 Budget: Higher Education Analysis p. 4, fig. 1 <a href="https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/3946/higher-ed-analysis-022119.pdf">https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/3946/higher-ed-analysis-022119.pdf</a>>.

To determine how much general apportionment funding each district receives annually, the Chancellor's Office (a state agency that oversees community colleges) applies a statute-prescribed formula. The Chancellor's Office first calculates how much funding each district needs to operate (based largely on the number of students enrolled in the district). It then takes that need-based figure and subtracts a district's annual revenue from local property taxes and student fees. (See Ed. Code, § 84751, subd. (a)(1)-(2).) The resulting amount is, roughly speaking, what a district receives in state general apportionment funding. (See *ibid.*) Several districts do not receive general apportionment funding because they derive sufficient revenue from local sources, including property tax revenues, to meet their needs. (AR 3429.) They do, however, generally receive categorical funding. (See *ibid.*)

Proposition 98 also informs how much general apportionment funding community college districts receive each year. Codified at Article XVI, section 8, of the Constitution, it provides a formula for "calculat[ing] [the] minimum level of state funding for public schools and community colleges to be appropriated every budget year." (*City of Alhambra v. County of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Ed. Code, § 84750.4; *Student-Centered Funding Formula* <a href="https://www.ccco.edu/About-Us/Chancellors-Office/Divisions/College-Finance-and-Facilities-Planning/Student-Centered-Funding-Formula">https://www.ccco.edu/About-Us/Chancellors-Office/Divisions/College-Finance-and-Facilities-Planning/Student-Centered-Funding-Formula</a> [describing the current apportionment formula]; see also *Financing California's Community Colleges*, *supra*, pp. 34-39 [describing the prior apportionment formula].

Los Angeles (2012) 55 Cal.4th 707, 714, fn. 5.) It leaves it to the Legislature, however, to decide how funding should be divided between the K-12 and community college systems and how much funding each individual community college district should receive. 12

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