Case No.: S262663

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COAST COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES,

Defendant and Respondent,

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE,

Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS ANSWER BRIEF TO COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES AND THE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Third District Court of Appeal Case No. C080349 Sacramento County Superior Court Case No. 34-2014-80001842 The Honorable Christopher E. Krueger, Judge (916-874-7848)

*Christian M. Keiner, Esq., (SB#95144)

Email: ckeiner@DWKesq.com

William B. Tunick, Esq., (SB#245481)

Email: wtunick@DWKesq.com

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

board of a community college district is going to put their community college district in the position of losing state aid by failure to implement the minimum conditions.

The proposed sanctions against Plaintiff/Respondent San Mateo Community College District in the record do establish that the threat of enforcement is real. In that case, the Chancellor determined that San Mateo County Community College District was out of compliance with the requirement to have an open recruitment and hiring process for a new college chancellor, and threatened to withhold funds. (AR at pp. 00318-319; 01842, 01844.) After lengthy public hearings and negotiations, the Chancellor entered into a compliance agreement with San Mateo. (AR at p. 00319, fn. 102.)

The Commission concluded from San Mateo's example that loss of funding is only "possible," and not "certain," therefore presenting no "practical compulsion." (AR at pp. 00318-319.) That is an untenable interpretation of both the facts and the law. The Chancellor's duty to monitor compliance annually and to investigate complaints is mandatory and it must be presumed that the Chancellor performs that duty in accordance with the law. (Civ. Code, § 3548; Evid. Code, § 664.) The San Mateo County Community College District situation establishes that the threat of severe penalty is at a minimum used as significant leverage to compel compliance. The actual imposition of financial sanctions is not

always necessary to enforce the College Districts' compliance, because the *threat* of drastic fiscal sanctions is sufficient.

Any enforcement process involves a degree of prosecutorial discretion and not all violations are discovered or sanctioned. (*San Diego Unified, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at pp. 887-888 [discretion to expel students].) State mandate case law only requires a certain enforcement process that is capable of imposing "serious" consequences that would compel a reasonable person to comply. (*City of Sacramento, supra,* 50 Cal.3d at p. 74.)

3. The Commission's Interpretation Does Not Effectuate The Intent of Article XIII B, Section 6

Laws must be interpreted to effectuate the underlying purpose of the enactment by either the Legislature or initiative (*Hill v. City of Clovis* (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 438, 446.) Even when the language is not ambiguous, the court may examine the context in which the language appears, adopting the construction that best harmonizes the statute internally and with related statutes. (*Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. County of Stanislaus* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1143, 1152.) In doing so, the courts should seek to avoid harsh or absurd results. (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1392.) The Commission here reached the arbitrary conclusion that College Districts have the "choice" to perform their central educational mission without the receipt of state aid.

That was not the intent of the voters in approving Article XIII B, section 6, or the Legislature when enacting Education Code section 70901, subdivision (b)(6).

In *Department of Finance, supra*, the Court stated the fundamental purpose of Article XIII B, section 6 follows:

The "concern which prompted the inclusion of section 6 in article XIII B was the perceived attempt by the state to enact legislation or adopt administrative orders creating programs to be administered by local agencies, thereby transferring to those agencies the fiscal responsibility for providing services which the state believed should be extended to the public." (County of Los Angeles v. State of California (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56.) The reimbursement provision in section 6 was included in recognition of the fact "that articles XIII A and XIII B severely restrict the taxing and spending powers of local governments." (County of San Diego v. State of California (1997) 15 Cal.4th 68, 81 (County of San Diego).) The purpose of section 6 is to prevent "the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIII A and XIII B impose." (County of San Diego, at p. 81.) Thus, with certain exceptions, section 6 "requires the state 'to pay for any new governmental programs, or for higher levels of service under existing programs, that it imposes upon local governmental agencies."

(Department of Finance, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 763.)

This "shift" is precisely what has occurred to the minimum conditions mandates in this record. In determining whether statutory language at issue here is mandatory or directory, "the intent must be gathered from the terms of the statute construed as a whole, from the nature

and character of the act to be done, and from the consequences which would follow the doing or failure to do the particular act at the required time." (*Pulcifer v. Alameda Coun*ty (1946) 29 Cal.2d 258, 262.)

C. There Was No Jurisdictional Error in This Matter

The Commission now at this late stage asserts the appellate court erred as a matter of jurisdiction:

The two jurisdictional issues first identified in the appellate court's slip opinion are: (1) the remand of Education Code sections 76300 through 76395, and (2) the finding that section 54626(a) of title 5 of the California Code of Regulations imposes a new program or higher level of service because it implements Education Code section 25430.12. (Slip Opn., pp. 49-50.) The claimants did not plead Education Code sections 25430.12 and 76300 through 76395 and have never alleged that these code sections were the source of a reimbursable state-mandated program. Having not been pled, the Commission lacks the power and the fundamental jurisdiction over these statutory provisions and thus they are not properly before the Commission or the courts, pursuant to Government Code section 17559(b), and no finding of subvention may be made regarding them.

(Commission Opening Brief, at p. 40, fn. omitted.)

However, the contrary position of the Department is that Issues Two and Three are not jurisdictional in nature:

Pleading requirements for claims under Article XIII B, section 6, and the rule barring duplicative consideration of such claims are *mandatory* procedural rules, but not *jurisdictional*. These rules serve the important purposes of facilitating the Commission's research and review of reimbursement claims, as well as preventing piecemeal litigation and the conflicting resolution of claims. But nothing in the relevant implementing statutes provides the

necessary clear indication that the Legislature intended to make them jurisdictional.

(Department Opening Brief at p. 15; italics in original.)

The Department further differentiates between jurisdiction and mandatory procedure requirements:

The relevant statutory provisions do, however, speak in mandatory terms, providing no license for parties or courts to disregard them. ... Accordingly, if the Commission properly invoked these rules on a timely basis, and its arguments have merit, this Court must "sustain the ... objection[s]."

(Department Opening Brief, at pp. 65-66; statutory and case citations omitted.)

The College Districts agree with the Department that Issues Two and Three are not jurisdictional – despite the Commission's assertions to the contrary. (Commission Opening Brief at pp. 47, 49, and 52.) The College Districts will not reargue this position in this brief.

D. The Commission Failed To Properly Raise These Defenses In The Trial Court Or Court Of Appeal

The Department recognizes that any mandatory rules must be invoked on a timely basis. (Department Opening Brief at p. 66.) The College Districts respectfully assert the Commission plainly did not invoke either of its claimed jurisdictional or mandatory bars to court action on a timely basis. The Commission simply did not timely raise Issues Two or Three below at any step in the proceedings. For the following reasons, the College Districts thus respectfully assert that Issues Two and Three as

presented are not properly before this Court, because neither was timely raised before the trial or appellate courts.

1. California Rules of Court 8.500(c) and Failure to Timely Raise in the Court of Appeal

California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c) states:

(1) As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal.

This matter has always concerned the proper mandate test, and application of that test to a very extensive record. The appellate court below did so by applying the proper legal standard to that record. (Slip opn. at pp. 6-54.) However, neither the Commission, (nor the Department) timely raised and litigated Issue Two or Three before the trial or appellate court. (CT at pp. 31-34) Based upon applicable law, these arguments have been waived. (*California Academy of Sciences v. County of Fresno* (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1436, 1442 ["A party who fails to plead affirmative defenses waives them."]) Only then could an appeal, or cross-appeal, be brought by the affected party. (See *Ekstrom v. Marquesa at Monarch Beach Homeowners Assn.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 1111, 1123 [defendant waived affirmative defense by not raising it in its answer or litigating it at trial].)

The verified Answer filed by the Commission in the trial court did not raise either Issues Two or Three as defenses. (CT at pp. 00046-00047.)

The trial court directed counsel for the Commission to prepare a judgment incorporating the Court's order (CT at p. 00194). Neither either the trial court order (CT at pp. 00166-00194), or the judgment prepared by the Commission (CT at pp. 00161-00163), or the final judgment (CT at pp. 00197-00198) made any ruling on either Issue Two or Three (CT at pp. 00166-00194.) The issues were not raised until oral argument and the formal written motion for rehearing filed by the Commission and denied by the appellate court. (Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing, filed May 1, 2020.) At this even later stage, the Commission should not be allowed to now raise these jurisdictional or procedural affirmative defenses.

E. The Commission's Substantive Arguments Regarding Issue Three Are Erroneous

The Commission analyzes a subset of Court jurisdiction, e.g. the question of subvention findings. (Commission Opening Brief at pp. 40-49.) Even if the Court determines that it can consider the Commission's late challenges regarding Issue Three, the appellate court correctly made a subvention finding with regard to section 54626(a) of title 5 of the California Code of Regulations, and further properly remanded the matter to the Commission to determine whether subvention was required for costs associated with Education Code sections 76300 through 76395.

With regard to California Code of Regulations, title 5, section 54626(a), the appellate court recognized that the standard for determining

whether a mandate is reimbursable is whether the requirement is new in comparison with the "preexisting scheme" as it existed on January 1, 1975:

The Commission determined that former regulation 54626, subdivision (a) did not involve a new program or higher level of service because the governing statute, Education Code section 76240, already imposed those requirements. However, the statute to first impose those requirements, Education Code former section 25430.12, was enacted in September 1975. (Stats. 1975, ch. 816, § 7; cf. Ed. Code, § 76420, subd. (a)(1).) We have not found, and the parties do not cite, a predecessor statute on this subject predating 1975. Thus, former regulation 54626, subdivision (a) implemented a statute enacted after January 1, 1975 that mandated a new program. Costs incurred pursuant to former regulation 54626, subdivision (a) are subject to subvention by the state. (Gov. Code, § 17516.)

(Slip opn. at p. 49, italics added.)

The Commission errs in applying an "immediately before" standard to the mandate in California Code of Regulations, title 5, section 54626 regarding student directory information, incorrectly arguing that the Test Claims at issue must be compared with the legal requirements in effect "immediately before" the enactment of the specific test claim legislation. (Commission Opening Brief at pp. 44-48; AR at p. 00023.) The Commission bases this legal conclusion on *San Diego Unified, supra*, 33 Cal.4th 859 at p. 878. (Commission Opening Brief at p. 46; AR at p. 00023, fn. 47.) However, the *San Diego Unified* decision did not adopt the phrase "immediately before." The Court in *San Diego Unified, supra*, ruled that to be a reimbursable mandate, "the requirements are new in comparison with the preexisting scheme…" (*San Diego Unified, supra*, 33

Cal.4th at p. 878.) As the appellate court determined, the "preexisting scheme" means the law as it stood on January 1, 1975. (See also *Hayes v*. *Commission on State Mandates, supra,* 11 Cal.App.4th at p. 1581.) As such, the appellate court properly found that "former regulation 54626, subdivision (a) required the Community Colleges to adopt a policy." (Slip opn. at p. 45.) As concluded by the appellate court, the Commission must decide whether the Community Colleges incurred any increased costs after July 1, 1980. (Slip opn. at p. 49.)

With regard to the appellate court's remand to the Commission to determine whether subvention was required for costs associated with Education Code sections 76300 through 76395, the Commission argues that the appellate court's remand of the test claim relating to costs incurred in establishing and implementing policies and procedures to ensure that the collection of student fees complies with Education Code sections 76300 through 76395 is incorrect as a matter of law. The Commission argues that because the College Districts purportedly "did not plead and, apparently, did not intend to plead" those Code sections. (Commission Opening Brief at p. 44.) But the application submitted by Plaintiff/Respondent Santa Monica Community College District did include a reference to Education Code sections 76300 through 76395. In the narrative setting forth its test claim, Santa Monica Community College District included the following:

CONDITION 6. STUDENT FEES. This condition alleges mandated costs reimbursable by the state for community college districts to establish and implement policies and procedures to ensure that the collection of student fees complies with the law (generally, Education Code sections 76300 through 76395).

Title 5, Section 51012 (added in 1983 and last amended in 1991) states that the governing board of a community college district may only establish such mandatory student fees as it is expressly authorized to establish by law.

(AR at pp. 00577-00578.)

As the Department states in its Opening Brief:

[T]he Commission and Legislature have properly sought to prevent test claim pleading requirements from yielding overly harsh results. As interpreted by the Commission, those rules require only "notice pleading," meaning that a claimant's filing are acceptable if, "'reasonably interpreted'" and "'read as a whole," they allow the Commission to identify the "statutes and requirements for which reimbursement is sought.

(Department Opening Brief at p. 62, fn. omitted.)

The Commission also somehow raises as a jurisdictional issue the remand to the Commission by the appellate court of Education Code section 76300. (Commission Opening Brief at pp. 49-52.) However, the Commission has already conceded that Education Code section 76300 creates a reimbursable mandate in connection with enrollment fees. (Commission Opening Brief at p. 49.) Thus, the Commission seems to be seeking to avoid subvention for costs it concedes are reimbursable. The appellate court remanded this matter to determine if Education Code

section 76300 et seq. also creates a reimbursable mandate with regard to student fees. The Commission does concedes that it had not previously considered a test claim under Education Code section 76395 through 76395. Thus, the appellate court properly remanded that portion of the claim for consideration by the Commission.

F. The Commission's Jurisdiction Argument is Not in Accord with Applicable Law

The Commission also argues that the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to remand the College Districts' claim for subvention of costs to ensure that the collection of student fees under California Code of Regulations, title 5, sections 51012 complied with Education Code section 76300 because, claiming again, section 76300 was the subject of an earlier test claim. (Commission Opening Brief at pp. 49-52.) First, since the Commission did not raise this affirmative defense below, it is barred from raising it now. Second, the College Districts agree with the Department that jurisdiction is not at issue.

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